Communities and Justice



Family Preservation Redesign Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs)

7 May 2025 - Version 4

Contents

The new	Family Preservation design	5
1.	What is Families Together?	.5
2.	What amendments have been made to the guiding principles proposed in the Redesigning Family Preservation in NSW Discussion Paper?	.5
3.	Where will Families Together and Aboriginal Family Preservation be available?	.5
4.	Will non-ACCOs have access to the Healing core component?	.6
5.	How has consultation with families, children and young people been incorporated into the Family Preservation redesign?	
6.	How will further consideration be given to SafeCare?	.7
7.	How does DCJ see the relationship between the Targeted Earlier Intervention (TEI) program and the Family Preservation program in providing early intervention to children and families, before they are at risk of significant harm?	
Family Pr	eservation Eligibility and Suitability	. 7
8.	What further information is available on MST-CAN and FFT-CW and the universal eligibility?	.8
9.	Will there be specific parameters put in place for eligibility exclusions, such as legal orders or concurrent referrals into Family Preservation?	.8
10.	If a child or young person is no longer residing at the family home, will the family remain eligible for Family Preservation?	
11.	What will the high-level suitability guidance look like?	.8
Referral	Pathways	9
12.	How will the referral percentages and Family Preservation model/framework types be applied?	.9
13.	Is there flexibility to adjust the referral pathway percentages? Can an increase of community referrals be applied?	.9
14.	What information will be included and sent to a Family Preservation service provider for each of the DCJ Family Preservation referral pathways?	
15.	How will referral pathways be monitored and evaluated?	10
16.	What are the community referral guidelines?	10
17.	What is the definition of a 'large family' when considering two placements?	11
18.	Can a family receiving a Family Preservation service be referred to another Family Preservation model or framework or other services?	11
Service d	uration and allocated hours	11
19.	How has DCJ determined the service duration for Families Together?	11
20.	Is there a set number of hours of service allocated per family for Families Together?	11
21.	How will service duration be considered in transitioning families from a current model/provider to a newly commissioned model/provider?	12
22.	What is the difference between block funding and unit costing?	12
23.	What Family Preservation models/frameworks will be block funded? What will be the ur cost?	

	24.	support each year?support each year?	12
Prog	gram \$	Specifications	12
	25.	How frequently will the Family Preservation Program Specifications (draft) that were released in March 2025, be updated?	12
	26.	What are the operating requirements for service availability times?	13
	27.	What options will be considered under the new brokerage policy?	13
	28.	When will the relevant model – or framework-specific operational guidance be provided	
Prog	gram l	mplementation	
	29.	How will Family Preservation service providers be involved in the implementation of the new design?	
	30.	When will DCJ explore introducing the standard Family Preservation case plan?	14
	31.	When will Family Preservation service providers know more about the Working Groups that are to be established?	
	32.	What will the Family Preservation outcomes tools look like?	15
Prog	gram l	Funding	15
	33.	How is the new funding approach different from the current approach?	15
	34.	Why has DCJ set a 40% ACCO investment target?	15
	35.	How has the implementation investment amount been determined?	16
	36.	Why is DCJ decommissioning FFT-CW low track?	16
	37.	Are service providers required to follow the team structure outlined for Families Together?	17
	38.	Are team salaries required to align with the SCHADS Award?	17
	39.	Why is there a contract minimum?	17
Nex	t step	s in recommissioning	17
	40.	What will procurement look like?	18
	41.	What is an 'Open' and 'Single-invited' tender in procurement?	18
	42.	How can I prepare for procurement?	18
	43.	When will we know how many packages are available? Can a single provider tender for more than one package?	
Con	tract '	Variations	19
	44.	Which Family Preservation service providers will receive a contract variation?	19
	45.	When can we expect contracts variations documents to be sent to current Family Preservation service providers?	19
	46.	Why are contracts being varied?	20
	47.	Will the LoV be the same for all models?	20
	48.	When will providers need to return the Letter of Variation by?	20
	49.	Will the value of the contract change for the extension period?	20
	50.	What funding figure is included in the LoV as the "original contract value"?	20
	51.	What if a service provider is not interested in renewing their contract?	21

Document version control table22				
53.	Who can I contact with any questions relating to LoVs?2	21		
52.	Will providers be required to complete an annual accountability for the 9-month period, being from 1 July 2025 to 31 March 2026?			
	53.	53. Who can I contact with any questions relating to LoVs?		

The new Family Preservation design

1. What is Families Together?

Families Together is a new framework under the new Family Preservation program that will be available from 1 April 2026. Family Preservation is the most intensive service available to families who might otherwise enter Out of Home Care (OOHC). Therefore, Families Together is for families where a child or young person in the home (who is 0-17) is suspected to be at, or determined to be at, risk of significant harm (ROSH). It is a case management style service made up of five standard core components, which are each operationalised through a set of required and optional service activities, with an average service duration of 12 months.

The framework enables service providers to deliver responsive supports tailored to a family's needs and circumstances. The *Families Together* framework aims to assist service providers to develop evidence-informed Family Preservation models that effectively support children and families with a range of needs and characteristics.

The program descriptions for the Family Preservation frameworks and models, including further details about Families Together, are outlined in the Family Preservation Program Specifications (draft).

2. What amendments have been made to the guiding principles proposed in the Redesigning Family Preservation in NSW Discussion Paper?

The following amendments have been made:

- The proposed 'Person centred' principle has been changed to 'Child and family centred', in recognition of the broader support that is required, along with connections and support of community, to drive the system response and continuous improvement.
- The proposed 'Directive, supportive, and innovative' principle has been changed to 'Structured, flexible, and supportive' to emphasise the balance between flexibility and structure for the system, and the supportive approach to implementation with Family Preservation service providers.
- The introduction of the 'Strengths-based and dignity-driven' principle as a focus on practice. It recognises the importance of respecting people's dignity and the need to understand a family's context, building on their strengths, abilities, and resilience.

The guiding principles will serve to help us collectively and continually, develop and improve the Program's design, service delivery and implementation, and in our evidence gathering and evaluation.

3. Where will Families Together and Aboriginal Family Preservation be available?

The Families Together and Aboriginal Family Preservation frameworks are expected to be offered in all districts across NSW. More information about funding levels in each district is outlined in the Family Preservation Funding Approach, with information about what specific packages will be commissioned in different localities to be released when tenders open.

4. Will non-ACCOs have access to the Healing core component?

Healing is a distinct core component of the *Aboriginal Family Preservation framework*, and the *Aboriginal Family Preservation framework* and can only be delivered by ACCOs. Non-ACCOs who are delivering *Families Together* will not be commissioned to deliver Healing.

Aboriginal families who are working with non-ACCOs will still be able to access cultural healing supports via a referral to a specialist ACCO service.

Feedback from AbSec and ACCOs from the <u>Discussion Paper</u> expressed concern with the original proposed standard core component of "Therapeutic Support and Healing".

Consensus was reached through dedicated ACCO CEO and Leadership forums that this standard core component was better reflected as "Therapeutic Support" and a new component of "Healing" be introduced for *Aboriginal Family Preservation framework* which captures the expertise and cultural knowledge that can only be provided by ACCOs, including holistic approaches to support Aboriginal families who continue to be impacted by intergenerational removal and the Stolen Generations.

DCJ and AbSec are currently scoping the codesign approach for the additional *Aboriginal Family Preservation* core components of Healing and Advocacy. While ACCOs will be central to the design, the scope of the codesign approach will also seek perspectives from other community members.

5. How has consultation with families, children and young people been incorporated into the Family Preservation redesign?

"Child and family-centred" is our first guiding principle of the new Family Preservation system. This recognises that the experience, strengths, and needs of children and families must drive services and that families can exercise agency about what they want to achieve and how. We also recognised the crucial importance of families being supported within their connections to community.

In the redesign we engaged with community, examined and critically appraised the best available evidence for what works, what is suitable, and what is feasible to achieve positive outcomes for children, young people, and families who are working with Family Preservation services. This included:

- Partnering with AbSec to conduct 'Listen and Learn' workshops with Aboriginal families and communities with lived-experience of Family Preservation and/or the child protection system (Aboriginal Family Preservation What We Heard).
- Analysing Family Preservation model program evaluations (Brighter Futures, MST-CAN, FFT-CW, Nabu, Newpin, PSP-FP, Resilient Families, Youth Hope). These evaluations have used qualitative methods including interviews and focus groups with children and young people (as well as parents and carers).
- Considering insights, experiences, and recommendations from existing UC Change consultations (the DCJ Youth Consult for Change program).

<u>Appendix C</u> of the <u>Redesigning Family Preservation in NSW Discussion Paper</u> outlines the published evidence that informed the redesign.

We know that we do not systematically capture client voice and experience to inform the continuous improvement of Family Preservation. That is why in the *Discussion Paper*, we committed to developing an anonymously captured client experience metric, which may measure whether family members feel they have been involved in decision making, have been treated with respect, had cultural needs met, or that services have been easy to understand and access. This would provide essential feedback and data from clients to support service improvement, analysis and evaluation.

Beyond client voice and experience, we are also committed to better understanding the outcomes of Family Preservation for children and families, to drive continuous improvement of the system. We have developed and consulted on a draft overarching program logic to show how the Family Preservation program will achieve impacts for the children, families and communities. This includes what data we need to collect through outcomes tools and using data systems such as infoShare to understand and measure this impact.

6. How will further consideration be given to SafeCare?

As outlined in the <u>Finalising Family Preservation foundational elements paper</u>, DCJ will conduct further analysis to assess the effectiveness and economic viability of SafeCare. This will consider the extent to which DCJ can or should specifically allow or prescribe SafeCare as part of the <u>Families Together</u> framework, or whether to leave this to the discretion of Family Preservation service providers when developing their service models and approaches under the core components approach. DCJ will undertake this analysis and communicate the outcome of this by the end of the 2025.

SafeCare is not part of the suite of models/frameworks that will be recommissioned under the redesigned Family Preservation Program.

As outlined in the <u>Redesigning Family Preservation in NSW Discussion Paper</u>, Families Together and Aboriginal Family Preservation allows Family Preservation service providers to use their funding to adopt the approaches they believe are most effective for their clients, so long as it is consistent with the service specifications (see <u>Appendix B in Family Preservation Program Specifications - Draft</u>) and other contractual parameters including costs and performance measures.

We will provide further advice on SafeCare to current Family Preservation service providers, as part of the contracts variations communications (refer <u>question 36</u>).

7. How does DCJ see the relationship between the Targeted Earlier Intervention (TEI) program and the Family Preservation program in providing early intervention to children and families, before they are at risk of significant harm?

Both the TEI and Family Preservation work to support children and families but target different cohorts and provide different services.

As the most intensive and holistic service offering in the system, Family Preservation is a Program designed for families where a child is most at risk of harm and of being removed. The new Family Preservation system will strengthen our ability to keep children safe at home and prevent removal into out-of-home care (OOHC).

TEI delivers a wide variety of <u>support to children</u>, <u>young people</u>, <u>families and communities</u>, including neighbourhood centres, youth services, family support, supported playgroups and parenting programs. TEI works with all children, young people and families within NSW who are in need. The aim of the program is to increase protective factors and decrease risk and vulnerability. TEI services are flexible. There are no timeframes on service delivery or eligibility criteria to access TEI.

Family Preservation Eligibility and Suitability

8. What further information is available on MST-CAN and FFT-CW and the universal eligibility?

The universal eligibility criteria applies across Family Preservation, including MST-CAN and FFT-CW. While strictly eligible for Family Preservation, some families will not be suitable for particular models or frameworks. DCJ's suitability guidance will reflect the model-specific requirements for MST-CAN and FFT-CW.

We will continue working with the MST-CAN and FFT-CW model developers to ensure these requirements enable services to be provided to the broadest possible range of families who are eligible for Family Preservation, while maintaining the efficacy of the model and the outcomes for families when they do receive a service.

9. Will there be specific parameters put in place for eligibility exclusions, such as legal orders or concurrent referrals into Family Preservation?

There may be limited circumstances where a family, while eligible, is unsuitable for a Family Preservation service. We aim to further consult with the sector in 2026 after the commencement of contracts, to refine the circumstances where a family may be unsuitable.

A family will not be able to receive concurrent Family Preservation services (e.g. FFT-CW and Families Together). Families, or family members, may receive concurrent specialist services where appropriate (e.g. Families Together and specialist mental health services).

10. If a child or young person is no longer residing at the family home, will the family remain eligible for Family Preservation?

When working with a family and significant changes occur, the circumstances will need to be considered on a case-by-case basis by the Family Preservation service provider together with DCJ.

We will provide further guidance on eligibility, suitability, and service matching in the relevant model—or framework-specific operational guidance and processes, including circumstances when a family may no longer be eligible.

11. What will the high-level suitability guidance look like?

As outlined in the <u>Redesigning Family Preservation in NSW Discussion Paper</u>, we want to move to a system driven by suitability and not purely availability, where families are referred to services that match their needs, strengths, characteristics, and circumstances so they can be supported accordingly. We recognise that the voice of families is essential for understanding what services will meet their needs.

Over time, we want to move to referral practices and processes which provide more sophisticated guidance about which type of support helps which type of family at what point in time, but this requires more nuanced data and evidence about how to drive suitability matching at a system level.

In the meantime, we will develop high-level guidance on client suitability for the Family Preservation program, and for different models/frameworks of Family Preservation. The guidance will also consider specific and limited circumstances when families may not be suitable for Family Preservation at all.

For families who would be suitable for Family Preservation, the guidance is likely to consider whether families would benefit from, or express a preference, for:

- specific cultural supports
- practical supports and case coordination
- clinical family functioning and behaviour change support

Depending on these, and potentially other considerations, the suitability guidance will indicate the best match of model/framework for the client.

Further guidance on suitability and service matching will be described in the relevant model—or framework-specific operational guidance and processes.

Referral Pathways

12. How will the referral percentages and Family Preservation model/framework types be applied?

As outlined in the <u>Finalising Family Preservation foundational elements paper</u> and the <u>Family Preservation Program Specifications (draft)</u> DCJ referrals will represent 90 per cent of total referrals, and community referrals will represent 10 per cent of total referrals. DCJ referrals include DCJ referral from an allocated case and DCJ referral from triage (unallocated case).

We understand that there needs to be operational flexibility to respond to referrals from different pathways, week-to-week and month-to-month so we do not want to quarantine 10 per cent of places for community referrals and 90 per cent of places for DCJ referrals, at all times. DCJ is comfortable with some degree of flexibility, providing that during the quarter and over the year, the referral split is maintained at 10 per cent community and 90 per cent DCJ referrals.

The above referral prioritisation percentages apply to Families Together, Aboriginal Family Preservation and FFT-CW. MST-CAN will continue to accept referrals from DCJ only, given it is a requirement of the model to have a screened in ROSH report made (in relation to the primary child) within 180 days of a referral.

13. Is there flexibility to adjust the referral pathway percentages? Can an increase of community referrals be applied?

DCJ will systematically collect data on the volume and percentage of referrals across the referral pathways via infoShare, alongside utilisation data. If DCJ is not fully utilising its 90 per cent of places, and all efforts have been made to address this with both DCJ and affected Family Preservation service providers, DCJ and providers can consider changing the referral percentage. The mechanism by which this can happen will be developed in 2026, after the commencement of new contracts.

As outlined in the *Finalising the Family Preservation foundational elements paper*, DCJ will also explore approaches to trial higher rates of community referrals, in a small number of locations, to build an evidence base and better understand whether an increased proportion of community referrals reduces the number of children and young people entering OOHC. We will update the sector as this work progresses.

14. What information will be included and sent to a Family Preservation service provider for each of the DCJ Family Preservation referral pathways?

Currently the Universal Referral Form (URF) requires DCJ to provide personal family details, reason for the referral and DCJ assessment details on referral to Family Preservation, and that information is provided to Family Preservation service providers via a secure information sharing platform.

As outlined in the <u>Redesigning Family Preservation in NSW Discussion Paper</u>, DCJ will revise the URF to ensure it is fit for purpose in the new Family Preservation system design. We will also look to implement ChildStory Partner Community to support efficient and effective referral processes and information sharing.

As reflected in the <u>Redesigning Family Preservation in NSW Discussion Paper</u>, it is fundamentally important that when DCJ refers a family to Family Preservation, DCJ is clear on the particular concerns they hold for the child/children, and how specifically they expect Family Preservation to work with the family to address these needs.

More information on the referrals process, pathways and information will be detailed in the modelor framework-specific operational guidance and processes.

15. How will referral pathways be monitored and evaluated?

DCJ will systematically collect data on the volume and percentage of referrals across the referral pathways via infoShare, alongside utilisation data and outcomes data. Through the contract period, this will inform both contract management of Family Preservation services providers and operational management of DCJ districts and CSCs. Centrally, this data will be monitored and analysed to better understand system dynamics and drive performance and continuous improvement.

With a limited but emerging evidence base, it is vital that the Family Preservation system and the various models that support it are constantly analysed and evaluated for the outcomes they achieve for families. This includes understanding the effect of referral pathways. As outlined in the <u>Redesigning Family Preservation in NSW Discussion Paper</u>, this will occur at the relevant point in the recommissioning cycle and to meet government obligations.

DCJ will commission and/or collaborate with independent evaluators (including Aboriginal evaluators, where appropriate) to complete process, outcomes, and economic evaluations, before the end of the contract period.

16. What are the community referral guidelines?

As outlined in the <u>Finalising Family Preservation foundational elements paper</u>, we will develop a community referral form and will work with the sector to develop guidelines that improve the current community referral processes and procedures, along with outlining the types of families suitable for Family Preservation.

We will begin this work in partnership with the peaks and the sector, once new contracts have been awarded.

These guidelines will also be included in the relevant model—or framework-specific operational guidance and processes.

17. What is the definition of a 'large family' when considering two placements?

We define a 'large family' as a family with four or more children or young people suspected at ROSH, but taking two places will need to be considered on a case by case basis, with Family Preservation service providers needing to seek approval from their DCJ contract manager.

We will develop guidance that will be included in the relevant model—or framework-specific operational guidance and processes.

18.Can a family receiving a Family Preservation service be referred to another Family Preservation model or framework or other services?

A family will not be able to receive concurrent Family Preservation services (e.g. FFT-CW and Families Together), however a family may end its involvement with one Family Preservation service (e.g. Families Together) and, depending on their needs, be referred to a more suitable model or framework for support (e.g. FFT-CW). Families, or family members, may receive concurrent specialist services where appropriate (e.g. Families Together and specialist mental health services).

Where there is an open and allocated case, DCJ may also offer a family a referral to Family Group Conferencing (FGC) at the same time as receiving support through Family Preservation. Where DCJ do not have an open an allocated case, the Family Preservation provider may refer to mediation services where appropriate.

Service duration and allocated hours

19. How has DCJ determined the service duration for Families Together?

As outlined in the <u>Family Preservation Program Specifications (draft)</u>, the expected service duration for <u>Families Together</u> is 12 months. In determining the service duration, we have considered the service duration ranges of the current service models, the average service duration of families who completed a Family Preservation service in recent years, and the length of time to empower a family and their network to sustained support without Family Preservation. We have sought to strike the right balance the length of time a family may need, and the need for the next family to also receive a timely service.

20. Is there a set number of hours of service allocated per family for *Families Together?*

There is no set number of hours of service allocated per family. Family Preservation service providers will be funded through block funding with contracts specifying the number of families that providers are required to support each year, with no set number of hours allocated.

This means that Family Preservation service providers have the flexibility to tailor the number of hours of service to best meet the needs of different families, within the funding envelope and expected service duration.

21. How will service duration be considered in transitioning families from a current model/provider to a newly commissioned model/provider?

A family's service duration will be taken into consideration as part of transition planning development.

We are currently developing a Family Preservation Transition Plan that will assist in a smooth and effective transition of services. The Transition Plan aims for minimal disruption to service provision whilst maintaining consistent support for families. DCJ will provide clear and timely communication to stakeholders, including service providers, DCJ, and families.

22. What is the difference between block funding and unit costing?

Block funding is a fixed amount paid to contracted Family Preservation service providers to service a specified number of families per annum. Block funding is not based on package-level pricing, where Family Preservation service providers receive payment for each individual client they support according to the package that a family requires.

Historically, some Family Preservation service providers have been funded based on the families referred to them by DCJ, with insufficient certainty about their income. Block funding ensures that all Family Preservation service providers are funded at an annual rate that supports ongoing viability and provides confidence to plan for the future.

While block funded, DCJ will specify the "unit cost" for different models and frameworks – that is the cost associated with servicing an individual family under each model. While we will not purchase places at the individual level, it is important that we specify the individual cost of servicing a family, for analytical and evaluation purposes.

23. What Family Preservation models/frameworks will be block funded? What will be the unit cost?

Under the new contracts, all Family Preservation models and frameworks will be block-funded.

The <u>Family Preservation Funding Approach</u> outlines the costs for the various models and frameworks.

24. How is DCJ determining the number places/families a non-ACCO will be required to support each year?

The <u>Family Preservation Funding Approach</u> outlines the expected range of contract volumes in advance of procurement.

Program Specifications

25. How frequently will the Family Preservation Program Specifications (draft) that were released in March 2025, be updated?

The draft Program Specifications will continue to be iterated until the new contracts with service providers start on 1 April 2026, with the next version available in procurement documents.

During the contract period, DCJ may amend the new Specifications (draft) throughout the life of the program, with input from service providers and stakeholders when appropriate. DCJ will formally review the Specifications annually, to ensure the program continues to meet the needs of families and complete any necessary adjustments. It is important to also note that changes to the Specifications may occur outside of scheduled review points, throughout the contract period and when a fundamental modification is required.

Updates to the Specifications will be communicated to service providers in a timely manner, and in advance of any changes coming into effect.

26. What are the operating requirements for service availability times?

As contained in the new <u>Family Preservation Program Specifications (draft)</u>, all service providers will be required to provide services between the hours of 6 am and 8 pm, Monday to Friday.

Operationally, this means that a service provider must ensure that their service can provide a response between these core hours and will be available to deliver a service appointment. This requirement does not mean that all staff must work during these hours, but service providers are expected to ensure that services are available between 6 am and 8 pm, where this is appropriate or required to support a family. Within this requirement, the hours of operation for Family Preservation service providers are at the discretion of the provider. The methods of service availability are based on the service approach that the service provider develops to support their community and families, within the funding envelope.

27. What options will be considered under the new brokerage policy?

The unit costs for all Family Preservation models and frameworks includes an allocation for brokerage activities. For the Aboriginal Family Preservation and Families Together frameworks, we have included a standard brokerage rate of up to \$5,000 per family in the unit costs. Client delivery costs cover the labour and brokerage expenses associated with service delivery.

While brokerage is not a prescriptive list of services and activities, we have defined Family Preservation brokerage as the financial assistance or material aid provided to families to help meet their individual needs and achieve their goals.

We are currently developing the brokerage policy across all Family Preservation models and frameworks and will introduce a brokerage policy before the commencement of new contracts in 2026. DCJ will take into consideration the practical supports available that meet the needs of families and provide guidance on what will be included under this policy. After new contracts have been awarded, DCJ will consult with service providers and communicate the brokerage policy prior to the commencement of contracts.

During the contract period, DCJ will collect data from service providers about how brokerage is being used. We will use this data and consultation with service providers to review brokerage policy and adjust as required.

Further information on brokerage will be included in the relevant model— or framework-specific operational guidance and processes.

28. When will the relevant model— or framework-specific operational guidance be provided?

The purpose of the Operations Manuals is to provide guidance to service providers and DCJ on specific service model operational processes and procedures to ensure consistency, efficiency, and compliance across service provider operations. This includes (but not limited to) providing high level guidance on suitability, clearly stepping out referral processes and pathway prioritisation, and defining roles and responsibilities of all service delivery partners.

DCJ is developing framework- and model-specific Operations Manuals that will be made available in draft to the service providers awarded new contracts to provide feedback to further develop and refine the Operations Manuals ahead of contract commencement.

Program Implementation

29. How will Family Preservation service providers be involved in the implementation of the new design?

We are currently developing a Family Preservation Implementation Plan that considers how to support the sector in a phased approach over the contract period. The plan will outline a high-level roadmap with timelines covering key milestones, implementation phases, and expected outcomes and will be made available later this year.

We will collaborate with the sector to develop and refine the Family Preservation Implementation Plan, ensuring it is well-informed, comprehensive, and helps support Family Preservation service providers to deliver better outcomes for children, families and communities.

One of the central aims of this commissioning cycle is to build the evidence for Family Preservation in collaboration with the sector. This will be achieved through clearly defined program outcomes, improved data collection systems and processes, better data analysis, and reporting of outcomes.

Further information on implementation can be found in the <u>Family Preservation Program</u> Specifications (draft).

30. When will DCJ explore introducing the standard Family Preservation case plan?

We will develop a standard Family Preservation case plan after new contracts commence on 1 April 2026.

31. When will Family Preservation service providers know more about the Working Groups that are to be established?

As outlined in the <u>Finalising the Family Preservation foundational elements paper</u>, we will engage with contracted Family Preservation service providers after procurement, on the Working Groups relating to Practice, Suitability and Engagement. The Working Groups will be an important mechanism for DCJ and the sector to innovate, problem-solve, and plan across these three key areas that are critical aspects of delivering the redesigned Family Preservation system.

32. What will the Family Preservation outcomes tools look like?

Outcomes tools are used to measure changes over time after a family has received a service response. They are typically administered by practitioners to the family at the start (baseline) and end of service. They can help the family and service provider to see individual change over time, and are also used to evaluate the effectiveness of services and the program as a whole.

During September 2024, DCJ invited existing and interested Family Preservation service providers to provide feedback (via survey) on some data and evidence elements that form part of the Family Preservation new program design. This included seeking views on shortlisted outcomes tools.

A decision about the final suite of tools will consider the suitability for the target population/s, best match with primary outcomes, ease of use, and service providers' views in the survey feedback on the level of data capture, the shortlisted tools, tools that are considered important, and supports required for implementation.

We will also undertake co-design work on program outcomes and measurement tools with ACCOs delivering the *Aboriginal Family Preservation* framework from April 2026.

Further information on the outcomes tools will be provided in the framework- and model-specific Operations Manuals.

Program Funding

33. How is the new funding approach different from the current approach?

For the first time in Family Preservation, we have adopted a needs-based funding approach to direct supports across the parts of our community that need it most. This approach provides fair and equitable resourcing for a high demand but finite service.

The <u>Family Preservation Funding Approach</u> allows DCJ to allocate funding across districts based on levels of relative demand for Family Preservation services. We analysed child-protection administrative data to understand the needs of children, young people, and families across the state. When considering demand, we also assigned a weighting for Aboriginal and culturally and linguistically diverse (CALD) children and young people given the additional supports they require.

34. Why has DCJ set a 40% ACCO investment target?

For the first time, the NSW Government is dedicating 40% – almost \$70m – to go towards supporting Aboriginal families through Aboriginal-managed organisations. This significant investment recognises that Aboriginal Community Controlled Organisations (ACCO) are best placed to understand, design, and deliver services which respond to the needs and aspirations of their communities.

The overrepresentation of Aboriginal children in OOHC and the rapid and sustainable growth of ACCO sector are urgent priorities for our system to address. This will support improving the lives and outcomes of Aboriginal children, families, and communities.

Aboriginal families have experienced specific barriers to receiving culturally responsive and safe Family Preservation services at the right time. Driving down the number of Aboriginal children in

care will help deliver on the NSW Government's <u>Closing The Gap</u> targets and the recommendations of the Family Is Culture review.

35. How has the implementation investment amount been determined?

We want all staff working in the Family Preservation system to feel empowered to contribute to and drive better outcomes for children, young people, and families and continuous improvement in the system. Good quality implementation is crucial to ensuring that children and families experience the benefit of evidence informed programs like the Family Preservation Program. In recognition of this, DCJ will take an active approach to supporting program implementation with service providers.

Strong implementation and continuous service improvement are key drivers to ensuring Family Preservation services deliver outcomes for children, families and communities. The Family Preservation sector have advocated for dedicated and proportionate funding for appropriate implementation support.

The <u>Family Preservation Funding Approach</u> aims to strike the right balance of investment needed for service delivery and dedicated investment in supporting the sector. We have included a dedicated and ongoing implementation investment worth \$5.6 million per year to support:

- the development of operational material and supporting resources,
- enhancements to, and technical support for, data collection and referral systems,
- evaluation activities to monitor and measure program effectiveness,
- the development of Aboriginal and CALD Cultural Safety Frameworks to guide services to provide culturally informed and responsive services
- the development of practice approaches in consultation with the sector;
- the establishment of Communities of Practice and Working Groups to foster collaboration and drive information sharing, joint troubleshooting, and shared decision-making; and
- workforce development, including training, to support implementation of the new approach and effective service delivery for families.

36. Why is DCJ decommissioning FFT-CW low track?

The priority of Family Preservation is to provide a quality service to children and young people across NSW. Families will be able to access the suite of Family Preservation services across metro and regional NSW.

To strike the optimum complement of models/frameworks, we have looked at:

- The best evidence available on the effectiveness of different models/frameworks
- The cost of different models/frameworks
- The appropriateness of different models/frameworks to meet the needs of the target cohort
- The operating model and flexibility of different models/framework to service in different localities at different price points
- The potential of different models/frameworks to innovate and flex as the evidence and wider service system evolves.

On balance, the Government has determined that FFT-CW Low Track can no longer be supported, and that case-management services will be delivered through either *Families Together* and *Aboriginal Family Preservation*.

37. Are service providers required to follow the team structure outlined for *Families Together?*

The <u>Family Preservation Funding Approach</u> uses an indicative team structure and caseload (Figure 2) in calculating unit costing under *Families Together*. This is a possible team structure and not a mandatory requirement under *Families Together*.

A key design feature of the Families Together and Aboriginal Family Preservation frameworks is that they enable service providers to develop flexible and innovate approaches to delivering Family Preservation services. As outlined in The Redesigning Family Preservation in NSW Discussion Paper, we will not be prescribing staff positions, team structures, practitioner caseloads, or salaries. It will be for service providers to determine the operating model they deploy within the unit cost for their relevant framework.

Service providers can determine the team structure needed to support the number of places or families outlined in contracts, and how caseloads are distributed within teams according to the needs and characteristics of families.

38. Are team salaries required to align with the SCHADS Award?

The <u>Family Preservation Funding Approach</u> outlines how unit costing was calculated using <u>The Social, Community, Home Care and Disability Services Industry Award 2010 (SCHADS Award)</u>. The salaries and staffing arrangements organisations use to deliver Family Preservation services are at the discretion of the service provider.

More information on unit cost assumptions is provided at Appendix A of the <u>Family Preservation</u> Funding Approach.

39. Why is there a contract minimum?

The <u>Family Preservation Funding Approach</u> sets different contract values for the next commissioning cycle. These will support the right market mix of small, medium, and large contracts in each district depending on demand, funding, and market availability.

The minimum contract value is set to ensure that service providers have sufficient resources to operate the Family Preservation services independently of other funding and programs, thereby maintaining service viability and reducing vulnerability, and disruption should other funding sources change. This ensures that the quality of service to children, young people, and families is not compromised over the life of the contract.

The sector has been calling for a more secure and sustainable funding to build greater operational resilience for service providers, which in turn means they can delivery effective, efficient, and responsive services to children, young people, and families.

Next steps in recommissioning

40. What will procurement look like?

The procurement approach remains subject to approval. We will communicate the approved approach as soon as possible.

The <u>Finalising the Family Preservation foundational elements paper</u> set out the suite of models that DCJ will be commissioning from 1 April 2026. The below outlines the procurement approach we intend to take for each:

- For Families Together, this will likely be an open tender managed at the district level.
- For ACCO-delivered Aboriginal Family Preservation, this will likely be an open tender managed at the district level.
- For Multisystemic Therapy for Child Abuse and Neglect (MST-CAN), this will likely be through single-invited tenders.
- For Functional Family Therapy Child Welfare (FFT-CW) this will likely be through single-invited tenders.

We anticipate these processes will commence at the end of May, with Families Together and Aboriginal Family Preservation tenders being open for 8 weeks.

As outlined in the <u>Finalising the Family Preservation foundational elements paper</u>, from 1 April 2026, DCJ will no longer commission Brighter Futures, Youth Hope, Intensive Family Preservation, Resilient Families, Intensive Family Based Services, Permanency Support Program – Family Preservation (PSP-FP).

The unit costs and potential contract values for the commissioned models will be made available soon. The specific contracts that DCJ will be tendering, including the contract value and geographical coverage, will be made available when procurement begins.

41. What is an 'Open' and 'Single-invited' tender in procurement?

An Open Request for Tender (RFT) is a publicly advertised tender open for submissions from any interested supplier. Each tenderer must show that they meet the evaluation criteria and specific requirements.

In a limited tender or single invite tender, is where an agency directly invites one or more suppliers of its choice to make a submission(s). A supplier might have the opportunity to participate in a limited tender if they're pre-qualified in a scheme and have a specific skillset.

42. How can I prepare for procurement?

The following details will assist stakeholders to proactively register to receive notifications and participate in upcoming tender opportunities:

- Procurement Central is the platform that DCJ will use for the majority of its sourcing activities.
- Accordingly, DCJ invites you to proactively register in Procurement Central in order to receive future tender notifications and participate in tender opportunities.
- DCJ tenders can only be accessed and responded via the Department's end to end procurement system, Procurement Central. Any submissions lodged outside of Procurement Central are not considered by the Department.
- To register, please go to https://justice.bravosolution.com/web/login.html

- Organisations who have not registered on Procurement Central are not be able to access tender information. If you have already registered on Procurement Central, you are not required to register again. If you require assistance with registering on Procurement Central, you may contact the Customer Support by calling 02 8074 8627 or emailing customersupport@iaggaer.com
- Additionally, all NSW Government suppliers are required to be registered on the buy NSW Supplier Hub

Providers may like to also familiarise themselves with the publicly available material about Family Preservation recommissioning and think about how their organisation can support the deliver of the new system design.

43. When will we know how many packages are available? Can a single provider tender for more than one package?

Further information on packages and the tender process will be available when the procurement process starts. Refer to question 41 for more information on procurement approach.

Contract Variations

44. Which Family Preservation service providers will receive a contract variation?

The Family preservation models receiving a 9-month Letter of Variation (LoV) are:

- Brighter Futures (including SafeCare)
- Youth Hope
- Intensive Family Preservation
- Resilient Families
- Intensive Family Based Services
- Nabu
- Multi-Systemic Therapy Child Abuse and Neglect (MST-CAN)
- Functional Family Therapy Child Welfare (FFT-CW) and
- Permanency Support Program Family Preservation.

Please note the contract variation for the Young Parents Program (YPP) is currently subject to approval. We will provide an update and relevant documentation as soon as possible.

45. When can we expect contracts variations documents to be sent to current Family Preservation service providers?

DCJ Commissioning and Planning teams have sent the LoV and the Agreement for Funding of Services to current Family Preservation service providers. Please contact your contract manager if you have not received this.

46. Why are contracts being varied?

The main purpose for extending most Family Preservation contracts for a 9-month period from 1 July 2025 to 31 March 2026 is to allow time to support transition to the new service system, while minimising disruption to children, families, staff, and service providers.

New clauses have been introduced to support a smooth transition to the new service system by maintaining stability for families, staff, and providers in relation to:

- Referrals
- Service duration changes
- Transition from discontinued service models

Reporting requirements including data entry into infoShare and vacancy reporting (we note service providers are already fulfilling these requirements).

Additionally, the clauses are designed to encourage provider agreement and collaborative engagement with the Department as well as ensuring DCJ has access to the data needed to build strong evidence base and manage public funds responsibly.

47. Will the LoV be the same for all models?

The clauses included in the LoV issued to service providers will vary, depending on whether they contain retained or discontinued models from 1 April 2026. For example, clauses relating to referrals, service duration changes, and the transition from discontinued service models will not apply to models being retained such as FFT-CW, MST-CAN, and Nabu.

48. When will providers need to return the Letter of Variation by?

We recommend the LoV be completed and returned to DCJ by as soon as possible. The deadline for organisations to complete their LoVs is COB Friday 23 May 2025.

49. Will the value of the contract change for the extension period?

The value of contracts will remain the same, however on a pro-rata basis for 9-months. Indexation may be applied.

Annexure 1 to the LoV outlines the contractual value for the 9-month period, being 1 July 2025 to 31 March 2026. This is applicable for all Family Preservation programs except PSP-FP as the PSP-FP program is dependent on various packages relevant to the needs of the family.

50. What funding figure is included in the LoV as the "original contract value"?

As contracts were varied in FY2024/25 include the annual funding in the most recent variation letter.

51. What if a service provider is not interested in renewing their contract?

It is crucial that any service provider that does not wish to continue to deliver Family Preservation services contact their district's Commissioning and Planning Officer as soon as possible. Any early discontinuation of services must consider and address the impact for families.

52. Will providers be required to complete an annual accountability for the 9-month period, being from 1 July 2025 to 31 March 2026?

Yes, annual accountability will need to be completed for Q1, Q2 and Q3 of the 2025/2026 financial year as per the usual Annual Accountability requirements.

53. Who can I contact with any questions relating to LoVs?

If you have any queries regarding the LoV, please contact your district Commissioning and Planning Officer.

Document version control table

Version	Updates
2.1	'Next steps in recommissioning' - Update to procurement questions 33 and 34.
3.0	Added 'Contract Variations' heading with subsequent questions.
4.0	Question 27 – Updated answer Added 'Program Funding' heading with subsequent questions.
	'Next steps in recommissioning' - Added question 41 and 43.